1996

Manuel Guevara v. Morris Air, Inc., Tur Mexico, John Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §§78-2-2(3)(k), 78-2a-3(2)(j). The order granting summary judgment was entered on July 10, 1996 (R.123-24). Appellant's timely notice of appeal was filed on August 9, 1996 (R.125-27). The Utah Supreme Court transferred this case to the Utah Court of Appeals on or about December 27, 1996.

V.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal is from a grant of summary judgment in favor of defendant. All issues presented are reviewed as questions of law for correctness, with no deference to the trial court's conclusions. See Schurtz v. BMW of North America, 814 P.2d 1108, 1111-12 (Utah 1991). The issues presented for review are:

1. Whether the court below erred in granting summary judgment to defendant on the ground that, as a travel agent, it was immune from liability for the negligence of a services provider, when the determination of that status required resolving a factual dispute and where the law does not recognize such immunity? (preserved for review at R.60-62).

2. Whether, the court below erred in granting summary judgment to defendant on the ground that, under its contract with

plaintiff, it was not liable for the negligence of a third party where:

- a. the contract in question was internally contradictory and, thus, ambiguous as a matter of law;
- b. admissible extrinsic evidence created a factual dispute as to the intent of the parties and whether apparent or ostensible authority existed and/or,
- c. the court simply applied one part of one provision, without regard to the basic law of contract interpretation, including the need to resolve threshold issues such as completeness, integration and ambiguity? (preserved at R.55-62, 77-108).

VI.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES AND REGULATIONS

This appeal include no determinative constitutional provision, statute, ordinance, rule or regulation.

VII.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, Disposition in the Court Below.

Plaintiff Manuel Guevara appeals from the trial court's grant of summary judgment dismissing his negligence and breach of contract claims against defendant Morris Air, Inc. His claims

relate to personal injuries sustained in Puerto Vallarta, Mexico, during a vacation which he purchased as a package from Morris Air (R.66-69, 74). Mr. Guevara was injured while disembarking from a bus, during a tour which was part of the package (R.71-76). The direct operator of the bus was Tur Mexico (R.48), which Mr. Guevara alleges was the agent and representative of Morris Air (R.1-6). After both sides conducted discovery, Morris Air moved for summary judgment on the ground that it could not be held liable for the negligence of Tur Mexico (R.45-54).¹

Specifically, Morris Air asserted two grounds for summary judgment. First, Morris Air maintained that it was merely a "travel agent" and that, as such, it could not be liable for the "independent negligence of parties performing travel services" (R.49-52). Second, Morris Air asserted that the charter ticket (or passenger agreement) specifies that "other travel suppliers [such as Tur Mexico] are not agents or employees of Morris Air, but are independent contractors . . ." and, that it disclaims liability as to Morris Air for any act or omission of such suppliers (R.52-53). Morris Air's motion was supported by an excerpt from ¶ 13 of the charter ticket which contains the supposed disclaimer (R.48), and

¹Whether or not Tur Mexico was, in fact, negligent is not at issue on appeal. The grounds presented for summary judgment relate solely to whether or not Morris Air would be liable, if Tur Mexico had acted negligently.

by its assertion that it could not "locate" any written agreement between itself and Tur Mexico (R.49).

In opposing summary judgment, Mr. Guevara provided a copy of the entire charter ticket including the full text of ¶ 13 (R.100-8). Notwithstanding the portion selectively offered by Morris Air, that paragraph also specifically provides, that:

FOR PUBLIC CHARTER TRIPS ONLY, MORRIS AIR SERVICE, INC., acts as principal and is responsible for making arrangements with airlines, hotels, ground transportation companies, and other travel suppliers to provide the services and accommodations included in the trip.

(R.108) (emphasis added).

Mr. Guevara also produced additional written materials, which had been provided to him by Morris Air in connection with his tour package (R.77-86). These materials evidence a close association between Morris Air and Tur Mexico, including a specific statement that Morris Air's "Representative in Puerto Vallarta" was "Tur Mexico" (R.79). Mr. Guevara submitted an affidavit stating that Morris Air employees held Tur Mexico out as its agent, and that he relied upon those representations in purchasing the package (R.59-60).

Morris Air filed a Reply Memorandum (R.115-21), wherein it maintained that Mr. Guevara's understanding of these representations was "not relevant" (R.116). It did not deny that the representations were made. Notwithstanding its assertion that

Mr. Guevara's understanding of ¶ 13 was a mere conclusion, Morris Air also offered its own interpretation of that disputed provision (R. 116-17). Unlike Mr. Guevara's interpretation, this was presented as mere argument, unsupported by affidavit or evidence. Indeed, the only "evidence" presented by Morris Air, extrinsic to the charter ticket, consists of its unsupported characterization that it was merely a "travel agent," and the fact that it could find no written agreement between itself and Tur Mexico.²

By Order dated July 10, 1996, the court below granted Morris Air's Motion and entered summary judgment in its favor (R. 123-24). That Order is a bare holding, which contains no findings or conclusion as to the basis for the court's decision. The Order does not state whether the court relied upon Morris Air's status as a "travel agent" or upon its interpretation of the charter ticket. The Order does not specify whether or not the court found that ticket to be a complete, integrated and unambiguous agreement. It does not indicate what, if any, of the evidence offered by Mr. Guevara the court actually considered.

B. Statement of the Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review.

Mr. Guevara purchased a vacation package from Morris Air, which included a charter flight to Puerto Vallarta, hotel

²Morris Air's motion for summary judgment cites to its own self-serving interrogatory answers as support for the proposition that it "acted as a travel agent" (R.48). That is not a historical fact, but an ultimate factual conclusion.

accommodations and other services, including ground transportation and bus tours (R.66-69). Morris Air was the direct provider of the charter flight. Mr. Guevara's itinerary lists "Velas Vallarta" as his hotel and "Tur Mexico" as the provider of "other services" (R.81). This was a tour package, assembled and sold by Morris Air (R.66-69). It was not a tour, which was operated by others and merely brokered by Morris Air.

The information brochure provided by Morris Air expressly holds Tur Mexico out as its "Representative in Puerto Vallarta" (R.79) ("[w]e are being represented by Tur Mexico"). Mr. Guevara was advised by that document to contact Tur Mexico if he need assistance (R.79). Thus, although part of Tur Mexico's duties were to provide ground transportation, it was not simply a bus service. It provided a wide array of tour services on behalf of Morris Air (R.81, 84). Other materials provided in connection with the package, refer jointly to Morris Air and Tur Mexico. Buyers are cautioned that "Morris Air Service & Tur Mexico have no connection" with certain time share promotions (R.83). There is a document on Tur Mexico letterhead providing information from Morris Air (R.85). Mr. Guevara testified that Morris Air employees made oral statements, that Tur Mexico was Morris Air's representative in Mexico (R.111).

A focal point of the dispute is ¶ 13 of the charter ticket/customer agreement (R.108). That provision first states,

that Morris Air "acts as principal" and is responsible for arranging certain services. It then states, that Morris Air "acts only as agent" of the suppliers of such services. Next, it denies that such suppliers are agents or representatives of Morris Air, and states that they are "independent contractors." Finally, customers are cautioned, that they are "solely" responsible for "[a]ny deviation from the advertised trip." The full text of that paragraph is as follows:

RESPONSIBILITY: FOR PUBLIC CHARTER TRIPS ONLY, MORRIS AIR SERVICE, INC., acts as principal and is responsible for making arrangements with airlines, hotels, ground transportation companies, and other travel suppliers to provide the services and accommodations included in the trip; provided that where MORRIS AIR SERVICE is the airline, it is responsible for providing directly to passengers the subject air transportation. In all other cases, MORRIS AIR SERVICE acts only as agent of the respective airline(s) and other suppliers, and, as such, shall not be responsible for the provision or operation of such flights or other services and accommodations. In each case, transportation provided by the airline is subject to all of the terms and conditions of the respective carrier's applicable tariff and/or contract of carriage; refer to the air transportation ticket for conditions of contract and notice of incorporated terms, and inquire of the airline for additional details. Also, other airlines, hotels, ground transportation companies, and other travel suppliers are not agents or employees of MORRIS AIR SERVICE, but are independent contractors over whom MORRIS AIR SERVICE has no control. Accordingly, you hereby agree that, except as otherwise provided herein, MORRIS AIR SERVICE is not responsible or liable for any loss, injury, expense, damage to property, or personal

sickness, injury or death which results directly or indirectly from (a) any act or failure to act (including, but not limited to, delays), whether negligent or otherwise, of any other airline, hotel, ground transportation company, or other travel supplier, or (b) any other cause or act of whatsoever nature, beyond MORRIS AIR SERVICE'S direct and immediate control. Except as otherwise specified herein, in the event of non-operation of any Public Charter flight due to reasons beyond our control, our sole liability shall be to refund to you that portion of the price allocable to the services not provided. Any deviation from the advertised trip which you initiate is solely your responsibility. Other matters concerning your responsibilities and ours are as follows:

(R.108) (emphasis added).

Mr. Guevara was injured, during the course of a tour which was part of the "advertised trip" (R.71-76). When he was disembarking from a bus, directly operated by Tur Mexico, he was instructed by the driver to walk between two parked buses (R.72-73). One of the buses moved forward, pinning Mr. Guevara between them and crushing his pelvis (R.74-76).

VIII.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court below committed reversible error by resolving factual disputes on a motion for summary judgment. Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991). It either made a determination as to the nature of defendant's relationship with Tur Mexico or, proceeded to interpret an incomplete and ambiguous contract. Even if the parties generally agree as to historical

facts, there exists a legitimate dispute as to the ultimate fact, which precludes summary judgment. Sandberg v. Klein, 575 P.2d 1291, 1292 (Utah 1978).

(A)

It Was Not Disputed That Morris Air Was A Mere Travel Agent

Whether or not there was an agency relationship--a central issue here--is fact intensive and not generally an appropriate subject for summary judgment. Vina v. Jefferson Insurance Co. of N.Y., 761 P.2d 581, 585 (Utah App. 1988); Zions First National Bank v. Clark Clinic Corp., 762 P.2d 1090, 1095-96 (Utah 1988). Here, plaintiff presented evidence of written and oral representations by defendant, supporting the existence of such an agency relationship. It was, thus, error to grant summary judgment. Zions Bank, 762 P.2d at 1095-96.

(B)

The Contract Is Not Unambiguous Nor Does The Extrinsic Evidence Undisputedly Establish That Morris Air Is Not Liable

The court below also erred to the extent that its grant of summary judgment rests upon interpreting the parties agreement, and holding defendant immune from liability under ¶ 13 of the charter ticket.

(1)

Paragraph 13 is internally contradictory and, therefore, ambiguous as a matter of law. Sparrow v. Tayco Construction Co.,

846 P.2d 1323, 1327 (Utah App. 1993). It specifically refers to Morris Air as the "principal." The court could not resolve that ambiguity on summary judgment. Id.

(2)

Because the charter ticket is ambiguous, extrinsic evidence is admissible and must be considered in resolving the ambiguity. Sparrow, 846 P.2d at 1327. The extrinsic evidence offered by Mr. Guevara gives rise to a factual dispute, precluding summary judgment. Winegar, 813 P.2d at 107. The court below erred, either by ignoring that evidence or by resolving the fact dispute.

(3)

The court below erred by granting summary judgment, on the basis of one part of one provision in an incomplete and ambiguous contract. It did so in favor of the party drafting the contract. In so doing, the court ignored and failed to follow standard cannons of contract interpretation. Cox v. Cox, 877 P.2d 1262, 1268-69 (Utah App. 1994); Colonial Leasing Co. v. Larsen Bros. Const., 731 P.2d 483 (Utah 1986); Sparrow, 846 P.2d 1323.

IX.

ARGUMENT

This appeal turns upon whether or not the facts of record undisputedly establish that, as a matter of law, Morris Air has no liability for the acts and omissions of Tur Mexico. See Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991) (summary judgment is

proper only where the material facts are undisputed and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law). They do not, and that judgment must be reversed.

On appeal from a grant of summary judgment, the reviewing court views the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the losing party. Id. "[I]t takes one sworn statement under oath to dispute the arguments of the other side . . . and create an issue of fact" precluding summary judgment. Holbrook Co. v. Adams, 542 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1975). Moreover, even if the parties generally agree as to the underlying historical facts, any legitimate dispute as to the "understanding, intention or consequences of those facts" still precludes summary judgment. Sandberg v. Klein, 575 P.2d 1291, 1292 (Utah 1978). Here, the evidence submitted by Mr. Guevara creates a dispute as to the ultimate fact issues of Morris Air's relationship with Tur Mexico and the meaning of its agreement with Mr. Guevara. Summary judgment therefore, is precluded.

The Order granting summary judgment contains no statement of the court's reasoning, which renders it subject to question. See Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc., 814 P.2d 1108, 115 (Utah 1991). Regardless of the basis of its decision, the trial court erred in arriving at the conclusion that Morris Air was immune, as a matter of law, from liability for the acts and omissions of Tur Mexico. To the extent that the court found that Morris Air was merely a "travel agent," immune from liability, it resolved a

legitimate factual dispute as to Morris Air's status. It also erred, as a matter of law, in holding that such a status confers absolute immunity. To the extent that the court relied upon ¶ 13 of the charter ticket, it erred either by holding that provision to be unambiguous or by resolving the factual dispute raised by the extrinsic evidence. Indeed, it is apparent that the trial court ignored basic rules of contract interpretation, in blindly giving effect to one part of one provision, without considering the whole contract and whether or not it was, not only unambiguous, but complete and integrated.

(A)

**THE COURT BELOW COULD NOT RESOLVE THE FACT
ISSUE OF AGENCY ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT**

Under Utah law, the relationship between Morris Air and Tur Mexico--be it principal and agent, joint ventures or partners--depends upon the facts and circumstances as a whole. See Vina v. Jefferson Insurance Co. of N.Y., 761 P.2d 581, 585 (Utah App. 1988) ("agency relationship is determined from all the facts and circumstances"); Score v. Wilson, 611 P.2d 367, 369 (Utah 1980) ("joint venture must depend upon the facts of each case"); Accord, Strand v. Cranney, 607 P.2d 295, 296 (Utah 1980) (joint venture is question of fact). A formal written contract of agency or association is not required to establish such a relationship. See Score, 611 P.2d at 369. Moreover, the existence and terms of written agreements, although relevant, are not conclusive. See

Score, 611 P.2d at 369 ("agreement is less important than the acts and conduct of the parties"). Indeed, even if there is a written contract, "parol evidence is admissible" to prove agency. Garland v. Fleischmann, 831 P.2d 107, 110 (Utah 1992). See also Horrocks v. Westfalia Systemat, 892 P.2d 14 (Utah App. 1995) (equipment seller was responsible for its agent's absconding with merchandise, notwithstanding buyer's execution of written acknowledgement of receipt before actual delivery). The law does not permit one to hold another out as its agent or partner, then later deny that relationship to the detriment of innocent third parties. See Forsyth v. Pendleton, 617 P.2d 358, 360 (Utah 1980); Garland, 831 P.2d at 110; Hoth v. White, 799 P.2d 213, 218-19 (Utah App. 1990).

Mr. Guevara offered documentary and testimonial evidence showing that Morris Air held Tur Mexico out as its agent or associate. The trial court was obliged to consider that evidence, regardless of the existence and content of any written agreements. See Garland, 831 P.2d at 110. Even if those facts themselves were not disputed by Morris Air, the issue of whether or not they give rise to an agency relationship is one of fact for the jury. See Zions First National Bank v. Clark Clinic Corp., 762 P.2d 1090, 1095-96 (Utah 1988) (summary judgment not proper as fact intensive issue of agency). Morris Air certainly could not obtain judgment

in its favor by simply asserting that it was only a travel agent, and by failing to produce a written contract with Tur Mexico.³

Moreover, even if the court could accept Morris Air's self-serving and unsupported assertion that it was only a travel agent, that status does not confer some sort of absolute legal immunity. Morris Air did cite several cases below, in which travel agents were held not liable for the acts or omissions of others providing services as part of a tour. Mr. Guevara cited to other cases, in which a party claiming to be a travel agent was held actually or potentially liable for another's acts. See Casey v. Sanbourn, Inc. of Texas, 478 S.W.2d 234 (Tex. App. 1972) (travel agent vicariously liable for driver's negligence); Hudson v. Continental Bus System, Inc., 317 S.W.2d 584 (Tex. App. 1958) (jury question as to relationship between travel agent and connecting carrier); Rookard v. Mexicocoach, 680 F.2d 1257 (9th Cir. 1982) (summary judgment inappropriate as to travel agent's liability for bus accident); Jacobsen v. Princess Hotels International, inc., 475 N.Y.S.2d 846 (1984) (travel agent could be liable for hotel's negligence).

The common denominator among both parties' cases is that they are fact intensive. Indeed, some of these cases specifically hold that summary judgment is improper in "travel agent cases" on the very ground, that the inquiry is too dependent upon overall

³If anything, Morris Air's failure to deny Mr. Guevara's evidence would support judgment in his favor.

circumstances. See Hudson, 317 S.W.2d at 589; Jacobsen, 475 N.Y.S.2d at 848-49. These cases look to the facts to ascertain whether or not the travel agent's involvement exceeded merely making reservations. See Jacobsen, 475 N.Y.S. 2d 15 848-49. Where the so-called "travel agent" is actually the seller of a vacation package, which it provides, it may be liable. Id. Here, Mr. Guevara's evidence, at a minimum, raises an issue as to the fact that Morris Air sold a package.

The upshot of all this, is that there is no clear rule immunizing a party which claims to be a travel agent. Utah certainly recognizes no such rule--none of the cases cited by either party are from Utah. However, the cases cited by Mr. Guevara, which recognize the fact intensive nature of the issue, are more consistent with Utah law governing agency and summary judgment. See e.g., Zions Bank, 762 P.2d at 1095-96. See also Rogers v. M.O. Bitner Co., 738 P.2d 1029, 1032 (Utah 1987) (existence of joint venture "is ordinarily a question of fact"); Hoth, 799 P.2d at 218-19 (ostensible real estate agent held to be partner due to more extensive involvement).

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