1996

Manuel Guevara v. Morris Air, Inc., Tur Mexico, Does 1-10 : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I. Summary judgment was correctly granted to Morris Air on the issue of Morris Air's liability for Tur Mexico's possible negligence. Morris Air merely acted as the travel agent with respect to the Tur Mexico bus

¹ Mr. Guevara claims in his brief that the fact that Morris Air failed to produce in discovery, or even locate, any written contract between Morris Air and Tur Mexico is not sufficient to show that Morris Air was only a travel agent in this situation. However, Morris Air faithfully conducted discovery on this issue, and if Mr. Guevara was not satisfied with the results of this discovery, he could have opposed Morris Air's motion for summary judgment on these grounds, pursuant to Rule 56(f) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (Brief of Appellant, pp. 4,14).

excursion. There is no evidence in the record which contradicts this assertion. Morris Air did not represent that it was a principal and that Tur Mexico was its agent. Further, there is no evidence that Morris Air had a "right to control" Tur Mexico, an important element in principal-agent relationships. The trial court found that none of the evidence raised by plaintiff gave "any indication of a principal/agent relationship in the terms the plaintiff seeks to have the Court find" (R.142). As the travel agent, Morris Air is not liable for any negligence of the Tur Mexico bus operation.

POINT II. Summary judgment was correctly granted to Morris Air because the contract between Morris Air and Manuel Guevara clearly and expressly disclaimed Morris Air's liability for any injuries caused by ground transportation companies. When taken as a whole, paragraph 13 of the contract is unambiguous on this issue. Further, this provision unambiguously shows that Tur Mexico was an independent contractor of Morris Air, not an agent for Morris Air. The trial court correctly concluded in its ruling that no evidence in the record contradicts paragraph 13 of the contract and the record does not raise a material issue of fact (R.141-42).

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO THE DEFENDANT BECAUSE THE UNDISPUTED FACTS SHOW THAT MORRIS AIR AND TUR MEXICO DID NOT HAVE A PRINCIPAL-AGENT RELATIONSHIP.

There is no claim that the driver of the bus was employed by Morris Air, or by any entity other than Tur Mexico. Mr. Guevara does not attempt to argue that the driver was a servant of Morris Air, and there are no facts which would support such a claim. Rather, Mr. Guevara argues that the driver's possible negligence should be attributed not only to his employer Tur Mexico, but to Morris Air, an entirely different business. Mr. Guevara makes this leap of logic based solely on the fact that Morris Air and Tur Mexico did business with each other as travel agent and supplier of a bus tour, respectively. The trial court correctly found that there was no ground for vicarious liability against Morris Air and dismissed it on summary judgment.

In a principal-agent relationship, "an agent is a person authorized by another to act on his behalf and under his control." Vina v. Jefferson Insurance Co. of N.Y., 761 P.2d 581, 585 (Utah App. 1988). Such a relationship is generally created contractually, where one of the parties

confides the management of some business to be conducted in his name and by which the other assumes to do the business and to render an account of it. The right of the principal to control the conduct of the agent with respect to matters entrusted to him is the test of agency, and constitutes an essential element of the agency relation. Restatement (Second) of Agency § 14 (1958).

In determining the status of a principal-agent relationship, the Utah court has applied a "right to control" test, similar to the one used to determine the existence of an employer-employee relationship. The court outlined and applied this test in Foster v. Steed, 432 P.2d 60, 62 (Utah 1967) as follows:

In general, the determinative question has been posed as one of "control", the view being that if the defendant controls, or has the right of control, the manner in which the operations are to be carried out, the defendant is liable as a master, while, if the control extends only to the result to be achieved, the actor is regarded as an independent contractor, and the defendant is liable under neither respondeat superior nor the workmen's compensation statutes.

In Foster, the court grappled with the question of whether a principal-agent relationship existed between Texaco Oil Company and service station operators in determining whether Texaco could be liable for injuries to a third person arising out of the tortious conduct of the

service station operators. The trial court denied Texaco's motion for summary judgment "on the grounds that it cannot be said that there was no genuine issue as to any material fact or facts concerning the relationship between Texaco and the other defendants in the operation of the service station. . . ." Id. at 61. Texaco appealed and argued it was not liable because the service station operators were independent contractors, not agents of Texaco.

The Utah Supreme Court reversed and remanded for entry of summary judgment in favor of Texaco. The court applied the "right to control" test and asked "whether the oil company has retained the right to control the details of the day-to-day operation of the service station; control or influence over results alone being insufficient." In Foster the relationship between Texaco and the station operators was controlled by a lease and an agreement of sale. Under these documents both parties had mutual obligations regarding the station, but were separate legal entities, even though the station operated under the Texaco name. Plaintiff offered the following evidence to contradict Texaco's claim that the station operators were not agents and to show that Texaco "controlled" the service station:

Texaco had responsibility for making certain the building was properly maintained, and its representatives conducted inspections of the

premises. It further effected the needed repairs after the fire. Wheeler and others were encouraged to wear the Texaco uniform and to identify with its products. The only pumps in the station bore the Texaco trademark, and the sale of any other products under the Texaco trademark was forbidden. The manner and nature of delivery of products was under the control of Texaco, and it was customary for the operators to buy all items for sale from Texaco. The company had established criteria for obtaining operators for their stations, and the operators attended a school where they received instructions on marketing, operations, and safety. All documents evidencing the relationship of the parties were prepared by Texaco on standard Texaco letterhead.

Id. at 61. Plaintiff argued that this evidence should "create a jury question, and that a jury would be acting reasonably in finding Texaco liable based upon the full extent of the relationship and involvement of the company."

Id. at 61. In granting summary judgment for Texaco, the court focused on the fact that Texaco's witnesses testified that it "did not set the hours of operation, or control the hiring or firing of personnel, require reports, or prevent purchasing products from other sources." Id. at 61, 63.

The court reasoned that "[t]he areas of mutual contact demonstrate a mutual interest in the sale of Texaco products and the success of the business. None of the evidence cited by plaintiff indicates that Texaco retained control of the day-to-day operation but, rather, merely influenced the result to be achieved, revealing an independent contractor

status." Id. at 63.

The Foster decision was approved and followed recently by the Utah Supreme Court in Glover v. Boy Scouts of America, 923 P.2d 1383 (Utah 1996), affirming summary judgment in favor of Boy Scouts of America on the ground that it did not have the right to control a local Scoutmaster and therefore could not be found vicariously liable for his tortious conduct.

A. Morris Air has never represented that Tur Mexico was its agent.

In the case at issue, plaintiff argues that Morris Air is the principal of its agent, Tur Mexico, and therefore is liable for Tur Mexico's possible negligence. But Morris Air was merely a travel agent which sold the ticket for the excursion bus tour to Mr. Guevara. Morris Air informed Mr. Guevara when he called that he did not have to purchase the excursion bus tour from Morris Air, that he could wait and purchase such a tour in Mexico, but that Morris Air offered a discount ticket price on the tour (R.68). Mr. Guevara chose to purchase his ticket through Morris Air, rather than make other arrangements on his own in Mexico. Tur Mexico operates its own business running excursion bus tours in Mexico; Morris Air operates its own business as a charter air service and as a travel agent for other services in Salt

Lake City. Tur Mexico never referred to itself as a part of Morris Air. When Tur Mexico communicated to its customers in Mexico, it did so on Tur Mexico letterhead. And Mr. Guevara received his "prepaid travel voucher" from Morris Air, the excursion bus tour was listed as being conducted by Tur Mexico, not Morris Air. These facts do not support Mr. Guevara's assertion that Morris Air acted as the principal and that Tur Mexico was its agent in this situation.

Written materials state that the Morris Air Service representative in Puerto Vallarta was Tur Mexico (R.79). This does show a close association between the two, as Mr. Guevara asserts in his brief. However, this does not show that Morris Air had the right or power to control, which is the requirement for agency.

There is no showing on the record that Tur Mexico's position as a representative of Morris Air had any connection with Tur Mexico's operation of the bus tour on which Mr. Guevara was injured. Stated differently, there is no evidence that the operation of the bus tour arose out of Tur Mexico's role as a representative of Morris Air in Puerto Vallarta. On the contrary, since there is no evidence that Morris Air itself had any role in the bus tour operation, the only reasonable inference is that Tur Mexico's bus tour operation was separate and independent

from its activity as a local representative for a foreign travel agent, Morris Air.

B. Morris Air had no "right to control" Tur Mexico's operations or activities, including Tur Mexico's choice of employees and/or the maintenance of Tur Mexico's vehicles.

The right of the principal to control the conduct of the agent with respect to matters entrusted to him is the test of agency, and constitutes an essential element of the agency relation. The Foster court relied on whether Texaco had the right to control the day-to-day operations of the service station to determine the status of the relationship between the two. In this case, any factual "connection" between Morris Air and Tur Mexico is more tenuous than the relationship in the Foster case. The two are completely separate companies; there is no known written contract between them; and Morris Air merely sold a Tur Mexico excursion bus ticket at a discount price to Mr. Guevara. In light of the fact that Morris Air had no ability to control the day-to-day operations of Tur Mexico, let alone the hiring and firing of its employees and the maintenance of its vehicles, it would be unjust to hold Morris Air liable for the negligence of Tur Mexico in this situation, just as it would be unjust to hold Morris Air liable if a waiter in the hotel where Mr. Guevara stayed had spilt coffee on and

burned him. Without a right of control, it is not sound policy to hold Morris Air liable as a principal for another travel supplier's wrongs.

C. Mr. Guevara has not offered any evidence to contradict the fact that Morris acted as a travel agent in this situation or to raise an issue of factual dispute.

Mr. Guevara argues that he offered documentary and testimonial evidence showing Morris Air held Tur Mexico out as its agent (Appellant's Brief, p. 13). Mr. Guevara misunderstands the requirement for a fact issue on the question of agency. In its ruling, the trial court stated that it considered Mr. Guevara's evidence, his affidavit and the documents, but that it "does not raise issues of material fact as to that contract" and "does not raise any indication of a principal/agent relationship in the terms that plaintiff seeks to have the Court find" (R.142). The trial court properly disregarded Mr. Guevara's conclusory opinions in his affidavit about what "one party thought" about the relationship between Morris Air and Tur Mexico. "[O]nce a movant sets forth a factual basis for summary judgment, the opponent must respond with specific facts to show that there is a genuine issue for trial, and mere allegations or denials of a pleading or conclusions in an affidavit are insufficient to raise a genuine issue of

fact." Guardian State Bank v. Roy W. Humpherys, 762 P.2d 1084, 1086 (Utah 1988); Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e).

Plaintiff also argues that the "factual issue" of the relationship between Morris Air and Tur Mexico could not be resolved on summary judgment. But the Foster court, faced with a more complicated relationship to determine, had no difficulty granting summary judgment to Texaco on that issue. The Foster court reasoned as follows:

Summary judgment is not a substitute for trial but is rather a judicial search for determining whether genuine issues exist as to material facts. Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, dictates the granting of summary judgment where there is no genuine issue of material fact. The plaintiff in the instant case has attempted to create factual issues, but the whole purpose of summary judgment would be defeated if a case could be forced to trial by a mere assertion that an issue exists.

Foster at 63 (quoting Leininger v. Stearns-Roger Manufacturing Co., 404 P.2d 33 (Utah 1965)). The mere existence of factual issues does not preclude summary judgment so long as the **material** issues are not in dispute. Such is the case here. Further, many other cases establishing that sellers of travel services are not liable for the independent negligence of parties performing travel services, have also been decided on summary judgment.

D. Other courts faced with similar issues have found no liability of the travel agent for the negligence of independent contractors.

Cases regarding the liability of travel agents in similar situations to this one show that the travel agent is not liable for the negligence of other travel suppliers. See, Lavine v. General Mills, Inc., 519 Fed. Supp. 332 (N.D. Ga. 1981), Connolly v. Samuelson, 671 Fed. Supp. 1312 (D. Kan. 1987), Weiner v. British Overseas Airways Corp., 401 N.Y.S.2d 91 (1978), Dorkin v. American Express Co., 345 N.Y.S.2d 891, Klinghoffer v. Achille Lauro Lines, 816 Fed. Supp. 934 (S.D.N.Y. 1993), Feig v. American Airlines, Inc., 167 Fed. Supp. 843 (D.C. 1958), Pena v. Sita World Travel, Inc., 88 Cal. App.3d 642, 152 Cal. Rptr. 17 (1978). In each of those cases, the court granted summary judgment to the defendant travel agent who sold the ticket for the travel service to the plaintiff.

Mr. Guevara cites cases which appear to support his assertion that courts do not decide these issues on summary judgment. But each of the cases cited by Mr. Guevara deals with a completely different factual situation and should be distinguished.

In Casey v. Sanborn, Inc. of Texas, 478 S.W.2d 234 (Tex. App. 1972), the travel agent in Texas and the travel service, Romfel Travel Service, in Mexico had a contractual

relationship establishing that Romfel was Sanborn's agent in Mexico. The facts are closer to the Foster case in that Romfel used Sanborn's name in its business transactions; Romfel's address and phone number as Sanborn's "Mexico City branch office" were listed on the back of Sanborn's itinerary folder; Romfel's drivers told customers they worked for Sanborn; and Sanborn picked the tour cars and drivers. In short, Sanborn had a right to control several aspects of Romfel's business.

In Jacobsen v. Princess Hotels International, Inc., 475 N.Y.S.2d 846 (1984), the issue was one of piercing the corporate veil to determine if the New York courts had personal jurisdiction of the hotel at issue through the Princess Hotel's corporate office in New York. The court stated,

"[i]t appears there does exist a Princess corporate structure which may have a bearing on the issues. . . . Furthermore, there is a distinct possibility of interlocking relationships which have not been disclosed. At the least there should be an opportunity for exploration of the facts in advance of summary disposition of the issue."

Id. at 848. The court added, "[o]rdinarily, an independent travel or booking agent cannot be held responsible for the negligence of its principal, where the agent simply makes the reservation or packages the tour." Id. at 848. The Jacobsen court actually interpreted the status of the

"ordinary" relationship as one where the travel agent is the agent of its principal, the travel service provider, for whom the agent is selling the ticket. In such a case, it would be illogical to impute liability on the agent when the principal is negligent and causes injury.

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